

America's Water Infrastructure Act of 2018 (P.L. 115-270): Drinking Water Provisions

Elena H. Humphreys

Analyst in Environmental Policy

March 28, 2019

Congressional Research Service

7-.... www.crs.gov R45656



America's Water Infrastructure Act of 2018 (P.L. 115-270): Drinking Water Provisions

Congress has long deliberated on the condition of drinking water infrastructure and drinking water quality as well as the financial and technical challenges some public water systems face in ensuring the delivery of safe and adequate water supplies. Several events and circumstances—including source water contamination incidents; water infrastructure damage from natural disasters, such as hurricanes; detection of elevated lead levels in tap water in various cities and schools; and the nationwide need to repair or replace aging drinking water infrastructure—have increased national attention to these issues. America's Water Infrastructure Act of 2018 (AWIA; P.L. 115-270), enacted on October 23, 2018, contains provisions that seek to address these and other water infrastructure concerns.

SUMMARY

R45656

March 28, 2019

Elena H. Humphreys Analyst in Environmental Policy -re-acte--@crs.loc.gov

For a copy of the full report, please call 7-.... or visit www.crs.gov.

Overall, AWIA authorizes various water infrastructure projects and activities for several federal agencies. Title I of AWIA, "Water Resources Development Act of 2018," authorizes water resource development activities for the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE). Title II of AWIA constitutes the most comprehensive amendments to the Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA) since 1996. Title III primarily includes provisions that address hydropower-related activities of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission. Among its provisions, Title IV amends U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA)-administered water infrastructure programs and several Clean Water Act authorities.

This report focuses on the drinking water provisions of Title II and Title IV of AWIA, which authorize appropriations for several drinking water and wastewater infrastructure programs for projects that promote compliance, address aging drinking water infrastructure and lead in school drinking water, and increase drinking water infrastructure resilience to natural hazards.

Title II amends SDWA to help communities achieve SDWA compliance, revise the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund (DWSRF) program, reauthorize appropriations for the DWSRF program, and increase emphasis on assisting disadvantaged communities. Provisions in Title II also revise emergency notification and planning requirements; authorize the use of DWSRF funds for the assessment and protection of drinking water sources; identify options intended to develop public water systems' technical, managerial, and financial capacity; and improve consumer confidence in public drinking water supplies. Title II authorizes a supplemental DWSRF appropriation for disaster assistance for public water systems in certain areas under certain conditions. Other provisions authorize new grant programs to reduce lead contamination in school drinking water, improve drinking water infrastructure for specified Indian tribes, respond to contamination of small and disadvantaged communities' drinking water sources, and improve the sustainability and resilience of small and disadvantaged communities' drinking water systems.

Title IV addresses several other water quality and infrastructure issues by authorizing and revising activities and programs for the EPA and other federal agencies. Title IV extends, authorizes, and amends drinking-water-related activities and programs administered by EPA. Specifically, these provisions authorize WaterSense, an EPA-initiated voluntary water efficiency labeling program, and revise the Water Instructure Finance and Innovation Act (WIFIA) financial assistance program. The WIFIA program provides credit assistance for water infrastructure projects. Other provisions authorize grant programs for innovative water technology and for water sector workforce development. Title IV also amends the Clean Water Act to expand a municipal sewer overflow grant program to include stormwater management projects, reauthorize appropriations for that program, and direct EPA to establish a task force for stormwater management.

With AWIA, the 115th Congress passed an omnibus water infrastructure and project authorization bill that affects several federal agencies. The act includes several provisions related to drinking water, with overarching themes involving drinking water infrastructure affordability and water system compliance capacity and sustainability.

Contents

Introduction	1
AWIA: Legislative Development and Background	3
AWIA Amendments to the Safe Drinking Water Act	5
Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Program	6
DWSRF Program Revisions (AWIA Sections 2002, 2015, and 2022)	7
Reauthorization of Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Capitalization Grants	
(AWIA Section 2023)	9
Drinking Water Grant Programs	11
Voluntary School and Child Care Program Lead Testing Grant Program (AWIA	
Section 2006(a))	11
Drinking Water Fountain Replacement for Schools (AWIA Section 2006(b))	12
Drinking Water System Infrastructure Resilience and Sustainability Program	10
(AWIA Section 2005(4))	12
Grants to Respond to Imminent and Substantial Endangerment	12
(AWIA Section 2003)	13
State Program Administration Grants (AWIA Section 2014)	13
Information to Consumers	15
Improved Consumer Confidence Reports (AWIA Section 2008)	14
Strategic Plan to Address Compliance Monitoring Data (AWIA Section 2011)	15
Monitoring for Unregulated Contaminants (AWIA Section 2021)	15
Compliance Capacity Development	16
Asset Management (AWIA Section 2012)	16
Consolidation by Management Contract (AWIA Section 2009)	17
Consolidation Assessments (AWIA Section 2010)	17
Intractable Water Systems (AWIA Section 2003)	18
Water Infrastructure Workforce Development (AWIA Section 4304)	18
Protecting Source Water	18
Source Water Petition Programs (AWIA Section 2016)	19
Planning for and Responding to Chemical Releases (AwiA Section 2018)	19
Review of Technologies (AWIA Section 2017)	20
Review of Technologies (AWIA Section 2017)	21 22
Discussion rederat Cross-Cutting Requirements (AwtA Section 2019)	22
Disaster Assistance (AWIA Section 2020)	22
Water Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act (WIFIA) Program	23
WIFIA Program Revisions (AWIA Section 4201)	24
WaterSense (AWIA Section 4306)	25
Innovative Water Technology Grant Program (AWIA Section 2007)	25
Conclusion	26

Tables

Table 1. Drinking Water Authori	zations of Appropriations in A	WIA (P.L. 115-270)	4
---------------------------------	--------------------------------	--------------------	---

Table 2. Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Program Authorization and Enacted	
Appropriations FY1997-FY2021	10

Table A-1. Reports, Plans, and Regulations Required in AWIA (P.L. 115-270)	27
Table B-1. Cross Reference: AWIA (P.L. 115-270), SDWA, and U.S. Code Sections	28
Table C-1. EPA-Related Provisions of AWIA (P.L. 115-270)	31

Appendixes

Appendix A. Reports, Plans, and Regulations in AWIA (P.L. 115-270)	. 27
Appendix B. Cross Reference: AWIA, SDWA, and U.S. Code Sections	. 28
Appendix C. Other EPA-Related Provisions of AWIA	. 31

Contacts

Author Contact Information

Introduction

Congress has long deliberated on drinking water quality and infrastructure, which have been brought to the forefront of national attention by several events. Such events include the detection of elevated lead levels in tap water in Flint, MI, and other cities;¹ hurricanes and other natural disasters that damaged or destroyed community drinking water infrastructure; and local source water contamination events (e.g., chemical spills and algal blooms).²

Representatives of state drinking water agencies, private sector engineers, and others report that much of the nation's drinking water infrastructure is deteriorating, threatening public health, and increasing operations and maintenance costs.³ In 2012, the American Water Works Association (AWWA) reported that much of the drinking water infrastructure (more than 1 million miles of buried pipe) was constructed in the 19th and 20th centuries and is nearing the end of its useful life.⁴ While disagreement exists over the scope and costs of improvement and replacements, estimates of the funding needs are substantial.

In March 2018, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) issued its sixth Drinking Water Infrastructure Needs Survey and Assessment. In this survey, EPA estimated that public water systems would need to invest \$472.60 billion for drinking water capital improvements over the next 20 years to achieve compliance and ensure the provision of safe drinking water. Although all projects identified in the needs survey would promote health objectives, EPA reported that 12% of the 20-year estimated need was directly attributed to statutory compliance.⁵ The majority (88%) of needs are for ongoing investments, such as repair of aging drinking water infrastructure.⁶

In 2012, AWWA conducted a broader drinking water infrastructure survey that reported that the costs to replace aging drinking water infrastructure and expand water service to growing populations will increase to more than \$1 trillion over the next 25 years.⁷

⁵ EPA, Drinking Water Infrastructure Needs Survey and Assessment: Sixth Report to Congress, March 2018, https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2018-10/documents/

⁶ EPA, Drinking Water Infrastructure Needs Survey and Assessment: Sixth Report to Congress.

¹ For more information about U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's (EPA) regulation of lead in drinking water, see CRS In Focus IF10446, *Regulating Lead in Drinking Water: Issues and Developments*, by Mary Tiemann. Also see EPA, "Lead and Copper Rule Long-Term Revisions," https://www.epa.gov/dwstandardsregulations/lead-and-copper-rule-long-term-revisions.

² For example, these local contamination events include the 2013 harmful algal blooms in Lake Erie that contaminated drinking water in Toledo, Ohio, and the 2014 chemical spill on the Elk River that affected drinking water in Charleston, West Virginia. For more information about harmful algal blooms, see CRS In Focus IF10269, *Algal Toxins in Drinking Water: EPA Health Advisories*, by Mary Tiemann; CRS Report R44871, *Freshwater Harmful Algal Blooms: Causes, Challenges, and Policy Considerations*, by Laura Gatz; EPA, "Harmful Algal Blooms and Drinking Water Treatment," press release, May 17, 2018, https://www.epa.gov/water-research/harmful-algal-blooms-drinking-water-treatment; and EPA, Region 3, "Protecting Source Water in West Virginia," press release, January 19, 2017, https://www.epa.gov/wv/protecting-source-water-west-virginia.

³ See for example, U.S. Congress, House Committee on Energy and Commerce, Subcommittee on Environment, *Reinvestment and Rehabilitation of our Nation's Safe Drinking Water Delivery System*, 115th Cong., 1st sess., March 16, 2017, H.Hrg 115-13 (Preliminary Transcript), testimony from Randy Ellingboe (p. 16) and Gregory DiLoreto (p. 49), https://energycommerce.house.gov/sites/democrats.energycommerce.house.gov/files/documents/20170316-EE-Reinvestment%20and%20Rehabilitation%20of%20our%20Nation%27s%20Safe%20Drinking%20Water%20Delivery %20Systems.pdf.

⁴ AWWA, "Buried No Longer: Confronting America's Water Infrastructure Challenge," 2012, p. 14 and p. 3.

corrected_sixth_drinking_water_infrastructure_needs_survey_and_assessment.pdf.

⁷ AWWA, "Buried No Longer," p. 14 and p. 3.

Communities nationwide may face financial challenges as they manage the need to repair or replace aging drinking water infrastructure.⁸ As of early 2019, EPA's database indicated that some 50,000 public water systems in the United States regularly serve 25 or more of the same individuals.⁹ About 80% of these community water systems are relatively small, serving 3,300 or fewer people.¹⁰ These small systems have a narrow rate base from which to finance drinking water infrastructure improvements. In addition, older cities may face declining populations and declining utility revenues from which utilities can finance drinking water infrastructure repairs.¹¹ In 2012, AWWA estimated that the costs to address aging drinking water infrastructure may as much as triple household water bills.¹² Due to these financing concerns, communities may be challenged to protect water supplies, respond to contamination incidents, and afford projects to repair or replace aging drinking water infrastructure.

Congress deliberated on several of these drinking water infrastructure issues while developing America's Water Infrastructure Act of 2018 (AWIA; P.L. 115-270), enacted on October 23, 2018. Title I of the act, "The Water Resource Development Act of 2018," authorizes a wide variety of water resource and infrastructure policies, programs, and projects for the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE). Water Resource Development Act bills are often considered on a biennial schedule and have primarily addressed USACE projects.13 Title III of AWIA primarily addresses hydropower activities of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission. Title II and IV of the act include provisions that address EPA water infrastructure programs and other authorities.

This report analyzes the drinking water provisions of Title II and IV rather than providing a comprehensive summary of AWIA.14

Title II constitutes the most comprehensive reauthorization of the Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA) since 1996. It amends SDWA to promote compliance with SDWA requirements, reauthorize appropriations for the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund (DWSRF) program, expand program eligibilities, increase emphasis on assisting disadvantaged communities, make SDWA compliance more affordable, and improve consumer confidence in public water supplies. Title II also authorizes new grant programs to reduce lead contamination in school drinking water, assist small and disadvantaged communities, and develop public water system resilience, among other purposes.

⁸ AWWA, "Buried No Longer," p. 14 and p. 3.

⁹ From EPA's Safe Drinking Water Information Systems Water System Summary report at https://ofmpub.epa.gov/ apex/sfdw/f?p=108:21:::NO:RP,RIR::. The search parameters were community water systems.

¹⁰ Water System Summary. The search parameters were community water systems and serving 3,300 persons or less.

¹¹ U.S. Government Accountability Office (GAO), Water Infrastructure: Information on Selected Midsize and Large Cities with Declining Populations, GAO-16-785, October 17, 2016, https://www.gao.gov/assets/680/679783.pdf. ¹² AWWA, "Buried No Longer," p. 10.

¹³ While the 107th-110th Congresses diverged from the biennial schedule, recent Congresses resumed the biennial enactment of a WRDA bill. Although WRDA bills have typically authorized water resources development by USACE, Congress has often included provisions that address drinking water and wastewater infrastructure issues. Since 1992, WRDA bills authorized USACE to provide assistance for municipal drinking water and wastewater projects. Title V of Water Resources Reform and Development Act of 2014 (P.L. 113-121) addressed EPA's authorities by revising the Clean Water State Revolving Fund program and authorized the Water Infrastructure Finance Innovation Act program. The Water Infrastructure Improvements for the Nation Act (P.L. 114-322) included amendments to the Safe Drinking Water Act, the Clean Water Act, and the Solid Waste Disposal Act, which are administered by EPA.

¹⁴ For more information on Title I, "Water Resource Development Act of 2018," in AWIA, see CRS Report R45185, Army Corps of Engineers: Water Resource Authorization and Project Delivery Processes, by Nicole T. Carter. Title III of AWIA includes provisions that address hydropower activities for the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission. These titles are not addressed by this report.

Title IV addresses several other water quality and infrastructure issues by authorizing and revising activities and programs for EPA, the Bureau of Reclamation within the Department of the Interior, and other federal agencies. Title IV of AWIA extends, authorizes, and amends drinking-water-related activities and provisions administered by EPA. Specifically, these provisions authorize a water efficiency program and activities and revise the Water Infrastructure Finance Innovation Act (WIFIA) program, which provides credit assistance for water infrastructure projects. Title IV of AWIA also includes several amendments to the Clean Water Act to address stormwater by expanding a municipal sewer overflow grant programs to include stormwater management projects, reauthorizing appropriations for said municipal sewer overflow grant program, and directing EPA to establish a task force for stormwater management.

The first section of this report provides select legislative background on AWIA. The second section describes the reauthorizations, revisions, and additions to SDWA. The third section discusses a provision in AWIA that addresses requirements that apply to federal financial assistance for drinking water improvements. The fourth section describes a provision in AWIA that addresses assistance for drinking water repairs in disaster areas. The fifth section includes the revisions in AWIA to federal water infrastructure financial assistance programs. The final section provides a discussion of the provisions of AWIA that address water efficiency. In addition, the appendices contain tables of

- plans, reports, and regulations required by AWIA;
- cross-references of the AWIA provisions, provisions in SDWA, and the U.S. *Code* citations; and
- summaries of the other EPA-related provisions of AWIA that are not discussed in this report, such as the stormwater provisions in Title IV.

AWIA: Legislative Development and Background

Drinking water infrastructure and related topics received congressional attention during the 115th Congress. AWIA combines provisions from several bills that the 115th Congress considered. Numerous bills were introduced to amend SDWA to address drinking water regulation and infrastructures issues, with particular focus on the technical, managerial, and financial challenges facing small and disadvantaged communities.¹⁵

AWIA Title II, entitled Drinking Water System Improvement, broadly parallels the Drinking Water System Improvement Act of 2017 (H.R. 3387; H.Rept. 115-380).¹⁶ This SDWA reauthorization bill would have authorized activities and revised existing law to improve water systems' technical, managerial, financial capacity, and consumer confidence and facilitate communities' access to financial assistance for drinking water infrastructure improvements. In addition, this bill would have reauthorized appropriations for a key drinking water infrastructure financial assistance.

¹⁵ Among the legislation introduced in the 115th Congress, the Securing Required Funding for Water Infrastructure Now Act (companion bills H.R. 4902 and S. 2329) would have amended WIFIA to authorize EPA to offer secured loans at reduced interest rates for drinking water and wastewater projects in eligible states. The Safe Drinking Water Act Amendments of 2017 (H.R. 1068) would have required EPA to review and revise its drinking water regulations more frequently, issue a revised lead and copper rule in drinking water, authorize additional lead removal grant programs, make revisions to the DWSRF program, and add provisions to increase the resilience of public water systems, among other purposes.

¹⁶ The House Committee on Energy and Commerce ordered to be reported, amended, the Drinking Water System Improvement Act of 2017 (H.R. 3387; H.Rept. 115-380) on July 25, 2017. The committee reported H.R. 3387, which was placed on the Union Calendar on November 1, 2017.

Congress also considered the USACE-focused Water Resources Development Act of 2018 (H.R. 8) in the House and, in the Senate, America's Water Infrastructure Act (S. 2800), a broader water resources infrastructure bill that included revisions to water infrastructure programs administered by EPA. Both bills contained provisions that would have authorized USACE projects and studies for water resource development, including flood control, navigation improvements, and aquatic ecosystem restoration activities.

The House incorporated selected provisions of H.R. 3387, H.R. 8, and S. 2800 into S. 3021. S. 3021, as amended and renamed, passed the House on September 13, 2018. The Senate agreed to the House amendments to S. 3021 and passed the bill on October 10, 2018. The President signed the bill on October 23, 2018, and it became P.L. 115-270.

Table 1 identifies the amounts authorized to be appropriated in the drinking-water-related provisions of AWIA. For a summary of deadlines for reports, regulations, and other activities related to drinking water as provided for in AWIA, see **Appendix A**.

Title	AWIA	U.S. Code	Authorization Period	Authorized Amount Per Fiscal Year	Total Authorized Amount
				(dollars ir	n millions)
Drinking Water Infrastructure Grant Program for American Indians	§2001	Not availableª	FY2019-FY2022	\$20.0	\$80.0
Drinking Water System Infrastructure Resilience and Sustainability Grant Program	§2005	42 U.S.C. §300j-19a(I)(5)	FY2019-FY2020	\$4.0	\$8.0
Voluntary School and Child Care Program Lead Testing Grant Program	§2006	42 U.S.C. §300j-24(d)(8)	FY2020-FY2021	\$25.0	\$50.0
Drinking Water Fountain Replacement for Schools Grant Program	§2006	42 U.S.C. §300j-25(d)	FY2019-FY2021	\$5.0	\$15.0
Innovative Water Technology Grant Program	§2007	Not available ^a	FY2019-FY2020	\$10.0	\$20.0
Public Water System Resilience Grant Program	§2013	42 U.S.C. §300i-2(g)(6)	FY2020-FY2021	\$25.0	\$50.0
State Program Administration Grants	§2014	42 U.S.C. §300j-2(a)(7)	FY2020-FY2021	\$125.0	\$250.0
Source Water Petition Programs	§2016	42 U.S.C. §300j-14(e)	FY2020-FY2021	\$5.0	\$10.0
Review of Technologies	§2017	42 U.S.C. §300j-19a(d)	FY2019c	\$10.0	\$10.0
Disaster Assistance	§2020	Not available ^a	None Specified	\$100.0 ^d	\$100.0
Monitoring for Unregulated	§2021(b)	42 U.S.C. §300j-4(a)(2)(H)	FY2019-FY2021	\$10.0	\$30.0
Contaminants	§2021(a)	42 U.S.C. §300j-4(j)(5)	None Specified	\$15.0e	\$15.0
Drinking (DWSRF) Capitalization Grants	§2023	42 U.S.C. §300j-12(m)	FY2019-FY2021	Variable ^b	\$4,424.0

Table 1. Drinking Water Authorizations of Appropriations in AWIA (P.L. 115-270)

Title	AWIA	U.S. Code	Authorization Period	Authorized Amount Per Fiscal Year	Total Authorized Amount
				(dollars i	n millions)
Water Infrastructure Finance and	§4201	33 U.S.C. 3912(a)(2)	FY2020-FY2021c	\$50.0	\$100.0
Innovation Act (WIFIA) Program Revisions		33 U.S.C. 3912(e)(1)	FY2020-FY2021f	\$5.0	\$10.0
Workforce Development Grant Program	§4304	Not available ^a	FY2019-FY2020	\$1.0	\$2.0

Source: Compiled by CRS.

Notes: This table includes only authorized drinking-water-related appropriations and accordingly is not comprehensive of all authorized appropriations in the act.

- a. This section is a freestanding provision in AWIA.
- b. AWIA Section 2015 authorized appropriations of \$1.174 billion in FY2019, \$1.300 billion in FY2020, and \$1.950 billion in FY2021 for DWSRF capitalization grants.
- c. Appropriations made under this section are available until expended.
- d. This \$100.0 million, if appropriated, would be available only for drinking water projects under specified circumstances. For more information, see Disaster Assistance.
- e. In each year that the \$15.0 million is appropriated, monitoring would be required by public water systems serving 3,300-10,000 persons.
- f. The additional \$5.0 million for WIFIA would be authorized only if \$50.0 million is appropriated for WIFIA and both the Clean Water State Revolving Fund and the DWSRF are funded at FY2018 levels or 105% or more of the previous year's funding, whichever is greater.

AWIA Amendments to the Safe Drinking Water Act

Several provisions of AWIA Title II, "Drinking Water System Improvement," amend SDWA to revise existing drinking water programs, reauthorize appropriations, and establish new drinking water infrastructure grant programs.

SDWA authorizes the regulation of contaminants in public water systems. Enacted in 1974, the act was last broadly amended in 1996.¹⁷ The act is implemented through programs that (1) establish national primary drinking water regulations and monitoring and reporting requirements for contaminants present in water delivered by public water systems, (2) promote water system compliance through technical and financial assistance and capacity development programs, and (3) address public water systems' preparedness for emergencies.¹⁸ The act established a federal-state partnership in which states, tribes, and territories may be delegated primary implementation and enforcement authority (i.e., primacy) for the drinking water program.¹⁹

¹⁷ SDWA Amendments of 1996 (P.L. 104-182).

¹⁸ In addition, SDWA Part C includes programs to protect underground sources of drinking water. CRS Report RL31243, *Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA): A Summary of the Act and Its Major Requirements*, by Mary Tiemann, provides an overview of SDWA and includes statistics and tables on the numbers and types of regulated public water systems.

¹⁹ Currently, 49 states, the territories, and the Navajo Nation have applied for and received primacy for the drinking water program. EPA retains implementation and enforcement authority for Wyoming, the District of Columbia, and Indian tribes other than the Navajo Nation.

One key component of SDWA is the requirement that EPA establish national primary drinking water regulations for contaminants that may adversely affect human health and are likely to be present in public water supplies.²⁰ EPA has issued regulations for more than 90 contaminants. These include numerical standards or treatment techniques for drinking water disinfectants and their byproducts, microorganisms, radionuclides, organic chemicals, and inorganic chemicals.²¹

The SDWA Amendments of 1996 (P.L. 104-182) reauthorized appropriations for most SDWA programs through FY2003. Although the authority has expired for most appropriations, Congress has continued to appropriate funds for the ongoing SDWA programs.²² Even though the authorization of appropriations may expire, program authority (i.e., an agency's "enabling" authority) does not expire unless there is a "sunset" date for that authority or if Congress repeals it through subsequent laws.

Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Program

Authorized in 1996, the DWSRF program provides federal financial assistance to communities to finance drinking water infrastructure improvements.²³ SDWA Section 1452 authorizes EPA to make annual grants to states to capitalize their state revolving loan fund.²⁴ The statute requires states to provide a 20% match. States may use DWSRF financing for public water system projects needed to comply with federal drinking water standards and address risks to human health. The primary type of DWSRF financial assistance are low interest rate loans. SDWA Section 1452 authorizes states to provide additional subsidization (including forgiveness of principal) to disadvantaged communities.²⁵ The federal capitalization grants together with state funds (e.g., state match, loan repayments, leveraged bonds, and other state sources) are intended to build a sustainable source of drinking water infrastructure funding for the state. The authorization of appropriation for DWSRF expired in FY2003. Congress has continued to provide funds for the DWSRF program through annual appropriations.

From FY1997 through FY2018, Congress appropriated over \$23.33 billion for the DWSRF program. The appropriation for DWSRF program generally ranged between \$820.0 million in FY2000 and \$1.39 billion in FY2010.²⁶

Table 2 includes historical appropriations for the DWSRF program.

²⁰ SDWA §1412; 42 U.S.C. §300g-1.

²¹ For information on drinking water contaminant regulations and standards, see EPA, "National Primary Drinking Water Regulation," https://www.epa.gov/ground-water-and-drinking-water/national-primary-drinking-water-regulations.

²² Although House and Senate rules generally require a current authorization in law prior to an appropriation, these rules are procedural requirements for floor consideration and may be waived or not enforced to allow the consideration of appropriations to proceed.

²³ See CRS Report R45304, Drinking Water State Revolving Fund (DWSRF): Overview, Issues, and Legislation, by Mary Tiemann.

²⁴ SDWA §1452(a)(2)(A); 42 U.S.C. §300j-12(a)(2)(A).

²⁵ SDWA §1452(d); 42 U.S.C. §300j-12(d) authorizes states to provide additional subsidization to disadvantaged communities. *Disadvantaged community* is defined as the service area of a public water system that meets affordability criteria developed by the state.

²⁶ In the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (P.L. 111-5), Congress appropriated an additional \$2.00 billion for the DWSRF program.

DWSRF Program Revisions (AWIA Sections 2002, 2015, and 2022)

AWIA makes the most substantial revisions to the DWSRF provisions of SDWA since the program was authorized in 1996. These revisions expand the eligible uses of DWSRF financial assistance, provide states with additional flexibility to administer the DWSRF program, and include provisions intended to make DWSRF assistance more accessible to public water systems.²⁷

AWIA Section 2015(a) amends SDWA to expressly state that DWSRF funds can be used for projects to replace or rehabilitate aging treatment, storage, or distribution systems.²⁸ Under EPA guidance, these replacement and rehabilitation projects have been eligible for financial assistance from the DWSRF if needed to protect public health. According to EPA's needs survey, this category of projects accounts for 66.1% of the estimated drinking water infrastructure need.²⁹ Prior to AWIA, these activities were not previously explicitly identified in statute.³⁰

Section 2015 also revises existing DWSRF provisions that address financial assistance for disadvantaged communities. These amendments increase the portion of a state's capitalization grant that states may dedicate to additional subsidization and extend the amortization period for loans made to disadvantaged communities. Before AWIA, states could use 30% of their annual capitalization grants to subsidize loans for disadvantaged communities.³¹ Section 2015(c) of AWIA increases that proportion to 35% while conditionally requiring states to use at least 6% of their capitalization grant for these subsidies.³² The section also amends the SDWA DWSRF provisions to extend the amortization period for loans made to disadvantaged communities from 30 to 40 years.

Section 2015(d) of AWIA also extends the repayment and amortization period for all projects financed by the DWSRF. Previously, SDWA required DWSRF financing recipients to pay the initial principal and interest payments within one year of project completion. This amendment extends the date of that initial payment to 18 months after project completion. This section also authorizes the extension of the amortization period for projects that receive DWSRF assistance from 20 to 30 years.

Section 2015(e) requires EPA to evaluate and include the cost to replace lead service lines in the drinking water infrastructure needs survey, which EPA completes every four years.³³ EPA uses the needs survey to allot the DWSRF appropriation among the states.³⁴ In conducting the needs survey, EPA has not previously requested that public water systems report the cost to replace

²⁷ U.S. Congress, House Committee on Energy and Commerce, Subcommittee on Environment, *Drinking Water System Improvement Act of 2017*, report to accompany H.R. 3387, 115th Cong., 1st sess., October 1, 2017, H.Rept. 115-380 (Washington: GPO, 2017).

²⁸ SDWA §1452(a)(2)(B); 42 U.S.C. §300j-12(a)(2)(B).

²⁹ EPA, Drinking Water Infrastructure Needs Survey and Assessment: Sixth Report to Congress.

³⁰ Safe Drinking Water Amendments of 1996, §130 (P.L. 104-182).

³¹ SDWA §1452(d)(2); 42 U.S.C. §300j-12(d)(2).

³² 40 C.F.R. § 35.3525(b)(1). Examples of allowable additional subsidization includes principal forgiveness, negative interest rate loans, and grants. EPA, "How the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Works," https://www.epa.gov/drinkingwatersrf/how-drinking-water-state-revolving-fund-works#tab-3.

³³ SDWA §1459B(a)(4); 42 U.S.C. §300j-19b(a)(4) defines *lead services lines* to be those that are not lead free (as defined by the act) that connect the drinking water main to the building inlet. EPA, *Drinking Water Infrastructure Needs Survey and Assessment: Sixth Report to Congress.*

³⁴ SDWA §1452(a)(1)(D)(ii); 42 U.S.C. §300j-12(a)(1)(D)(ii).

these lines.³⁵ AWIA specifies that the cost to replace lead lines must be included in the needs survey (to the extent practicable), which may potentially affect some states' allotments of DWSRF capitalization grants.

Section 2015(g) of AWIA requires EPA to gather specified information on DWSRF administration from state drinking water administrators and report to Congress on best practices for implementing the DWSRF to facilitate the application process and to improve DWSRF financial management and sustainability.

Source Water Assessment and Protection

In 1996, Congress added source water assessment provisions to SDWA to encourage protection of drinking water sources.³⁶ Section 1453 required states to develop source water assessment programs that delineate areas from which public water systems receive water and identify the origins of regulated contaminants to determine threats to water systems. States were authorized to fund these activities from 10% of their DWSRF capitalization grant for FY1996 and FY1997.³⁷ Section 2015(f) of AWIA removes this fiscal year limitation and accordingly authorizes states to use a portion of their capitalization grant to fund these source water assessments or update an existing source water assessment.³⁸

The 1996 SDWA amendments required states to conduct source water assessments as a condition of adopting modified monitoring requirements.³⁹ However, the 1996 amendments did not authorize states to fund implementation of source water protection plans from their DWSRF capitalization grants. AWIA Section 2002 authorizes states to fund implementation of surface drinking water sources protection efforts and activities from the 10% set-aside of a state's annual DWSRF capitalization grant.

Source water protection is also addressed in the "Protecting Source Water" section of this report.

Federal Cross-Cutting Requirements for DWSRF-financed Projects

Recipients of DWSRF financial assistance must comply with cross-cutting requirements, which are other federal laws or executive orders that apply to certain federal financial assistance programs.⁴⁰ Examples of federal cross-cutting requirements include environmental laws such as the National Environmental Policy Act and Endangered Species Act, executive orders on equal employment opportunities, and the National Historic Preservation Act. AWIA specifies two such

³⁵ EPA, Drinking Water Infrastructure Needs Survey and Assessment: Sixth Report to Congress.

³⁶ The 1986 SDWA amendments (P.L. 99-339) directed states to develop wellhead protection programs to protect underground sources of drinking water (SDWA §1428; 42 U.S.C. §300h-7). Then the 1996 SDWA amendments authorized states to use as much as 10% of their DWSRF capitalization grant to implement these wellhead protection programs (SDWA §1452(k)(1)(D); 42 U.S.C. §300j-12(k)(1)(D)).

³⁷ SDWA §1452(k)(1)(C); 42 U.S.C. §300j-12(k)(1)(C). The 1996 amendments also added SDWA Section 1453 (42 U.S.C. §300j-13), which directs states to carry out source water protection programs that delineate the boundaries of areas from which systems receive water and identify the origins of regulated contaminants (and also any contaminants selected by the state) in those areas to determine systems' susceptibility to contamination. States with approved source water assessment programs could adopt modifications to monitoring requirements (SDWA §1418(b); 42 U.S.C. §300g-7(b)).

³⁸ SDWA §1452(k)(1)(C); 42 U.S.C. §300j-12(k)(1)(C); P.L. 115-270, §2015.

³⁹ SDWA §1453; 42 U.S.C. §300j-13.

⁴⁰ EPA, Cross-Cutting Federal Authorities: A Handbook on Their Application in the Clean Water and Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Programs, October 2003, p. 1.

requirements for DWSRF-financed projects: the use of American iron and steel and compliance with Davis-Bacon prevailing wage law.⁴¹

Section 2022 of AWIA renews the requirement to use American iron and steel products in DWSRF-financed projects for FY2019-FY2023.⁴² Previously, Congress has required American iron and steel for DWSRF-financed projects for specified fiscal years. The Water Infrastructure Innovation for the Nation (WIIN) Act (P.L. 114-322) amended SDWA to require the use of American iron and steel for FY2017. In the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (P.L. 111-5), Congress provided supplemental appropriations for the DWSRF and first required the use of "Buy American" iron and steel in projects financed from that supplemental appropriation. Since FY2014, Congress has regularly required the use of American iron and steel for DWSRF-financed projects through appropriations acts.

AWIA Section 2015(b) amends SDWA to add Davis-Bacon prevailing wage requirements for projects that receive DWSRF assistance.⁴³ Since 2009, Congress has often applied Davis-Bacon⁴⁴ prevailing wage requirements to funds for DWSRF-financed projects through annual appropriations acts.⁴⁵

Reauthorization of Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Capitalization Grants (AWIA Section 2023)

AWIA Section 2023 amends SDWA to reauthorize DWSRF capitalization grants for FY2019-FY2021. The authorization of appropriations for the DWSRF are approximately

- \$1.17 billion in FY2019,
- \$1.30 billion in FY2020, and
- \$1.95 billion in FY2021.⁴⁶

Appropriations for the DWSRF capitalization grants were \$863.2 million for each of FY2016 and FY2017⁴⁷ and \$1.16 billion for FY2018.⁴⁸ The Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2019 (P.L. 116-

⁴¹ See U.S. Department of Labor, Wage and Hour Division, "Fact Sheet #66: The Davis-Bacon and Related Acts (DBRA)," http://www.dol.gov/whd/regs/compliance/whdfs66.pdf.

⁴² SDWA Section 1452(a)(4) [42 U.S.C. §300j-12(a)(4)] added by the Water Infrastructure Innovation for the Nation Act (P.L. 114-322), required DWSRF projects to use American iron and steel for FY2017. This section allows for the use of American iron and steel to be waived if (1) using American iron and steel is inconsistent with public interest, (2) American iron and steel products are not of sufficient quality or reasonably available, (3) or if the use of American iron and steel products would result in an increase of 25% or more to the cost of the project.

⁴³ SDWA §1452(a)(5); 42 U.S.C. §300j-12(a)(5).

⁴⁴ The Davis-Bacon Act of 1931, as amended, requires employers to pay at least locally prevailing wages and fringe benefits to workers employed on contracts in excess of \$2,000 to which the federal government is a party. These wages and benefits are the minimum hourly wages and benefits that employers must pay workers.

⁴⁵ Davis-Bacon prevailing wage requirements were initially applied to DWSRF-financed projects funded by the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (P.L. 111-5). Appropriations acts for EPA in FY2010 (P.L. 111-88) and FY2012 (P.L. 112-74) included provisions that requires Davis-Bacon prevailing wages for projects financed by the DWSRF. P.L. 112-74 applied the Davis-Bacon requirements to FY2012 and every fiscal year thereafter.

⁴⁶ Additionally, AWIA Section 2020 authorizes to be appropriated \$100.0 million in DWSRF funding to provide assistance to certain public water systems in areas subject to disaster declarations. (See discussion under Disaster Assistance.)

⁴⁷ The Continuing and Security Assistance Appropriations Act, 2017 (P.L. 114-254), included an additional \$100.0 million in DWSRF funding to assist Flint, MI, as authorized by the WIIN Act (P.L. 114-322).

⁴⁸ Title II of the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2018 (P.L. 115-141), included \$863.2 million for the DWSRF

6), included \$1.16 billion for DWSRF capitalization grants in FY2019.⁴⁹ For a summary of historical DWSRF appropriation levels, see

Table 2.

Table 2. Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Program Authorization and Enacted Appropriations FY1997-FY2021

Fiscal Year	Authorization	Enacted Appropriation	
		Nominal	Adjusted for Inflation
1997	\$1,000.0	\$1,275.0	\$1,886.9
1998	\$1,000.0	\$725.0	\$1,059.7
1999	\$1,000.0	\$775.0	\$1,118.4
2000	\$1,000.0	\$820.0	\$1,159.6
2001	\$1,000.0	\$823.2	\$1,137.3
2002	\$1,000.0	\$850.0	\$1,155.8
2003	\$1,000.0	\$844.5	\$1,127.7
2004	<u>a</u>	\$843.2	\$1,099.6
2005	—	\$845.0	\$1,069.3
2006	—	\$837.5	\$1,027.0
2007	—	\$837.5	\$999.7
2008	—	\$829.0	\$969.6
2009	—	\$2,829.0 ^b	\$3,270.8 ^b
2010	—	\$1,387.0	\$1,590.0
2011	—	\$963.1	\$1,082.4
2012	—	\$917.9	\$1,012.4
2013	—	\$956.3c	\$1,035.7
2014	—	\$906.9	\$963.6
2015	—	\$906.9	\$952.0
2016	—	\$863.2	\$897.9
2017	—	\$963.2 ^d	\$984.1
2018	—	\$1,163.2°	\$1,163.2
2019	\$1,174.0	\$1,164.0 ^f	\$1,140.8

In millions of dollars, nominal and adjusted for inflation (2018 dollars)

program. Section 430 of Title IV of the act included an additional \$300.0 million for the DWSRF program.

⁴⁹ Title II of the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2019 (P.L. 116-6) included \$864.0 million for the DWSRF program. In addition, Section 429 of Title IV of the act included an additional \$300.0 million for the DWSRF program. The Title II appropriation is included in EPA's State and Tribal Assistance Grants (STAG) account. Of the \$3.61 billion appropriated for the STAG account, the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2019, requires a rescission of \$96.2 million, which may impact the DWSRF capitalization grant appropriation.

Fiscal Year	Authorization Enacted Appropriate		ted Appropriation
		Nominal	Adjusted for Inflation
2020	\$1,300.0		
2021	\$1,950.0		
Total	_	\$23,325.6	\$27,903.7

Source: Prepared by CRS using information from annual appropriations acts, committee reports, and explanatory statements presented in the *Congressional Record*.

Notes: Amounts reflect applicable rescissions and supplemental appropriations, including \$2.00 billion in the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (P.L. 111-5). Constant dollars calculated from Office of Management of Budget, Table 10.1, "Gross Domestic Product and Deflators Used in the Historical Tables: 1940-2023," https://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/budget/Historicals.

- a. Authorization of appropriations for SDWA Section 1452 (as authorized by Section 130 of the Safe Drinking Water Act Amendments of 1996 [P.L. 104-182]) expired in FY2003.
- b. The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (P.L. 111-5) appropriated \$2.0 billion for the DWSRF program.
- c. FY2013 post-sequestration enacted amounts are as presented in EPA's FY2013 operating plan. This amount reflects the baseline appropriations level of \$861.3 million (\$908.7 million pre-sequestration and pre-rescission) plus \$95.0 million (\$100.0 million pre-sequestration and pre-rescission) for the DVVSRF program in the Disaster Relief Appropriations Act, 2013 (P.L. 113-2), for projects in New Jersey and New York to address damage from Hurricane Sandy.
- d. The Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2017 (P.L. 115-31), included \$863.23 million for the DWSRF program. The Continuing and Security Assistance Appropriations Act, 2017 (P.L. 114-254), included \$100.0 million in DWSRF funding to assist Flint, MI, as authorized by the Water Infrastructure Innovation for the Nation Act (P.L. 114-322).
- e. Title II of the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2018 (P.L. 115-141), included \$863.2 million for the DWSRF program. In addition, Section 430 of Title IV of the act included an additional \$300.0 million for the DWSRF program.
- f. Title II of the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2019 (P.L. 116-6), included \$864.0 million for the DWSRF program. In addition, Section 429 of Title IV of the act included an additional \$300.0 million for the DWSRF program. The appropriations in Title II are included in EPA's State and Tribal Assistance Grants (STAG) account. Of the \$3.61 billion appropriated for the STAG account, the act requires a rescission of \$96.2 million, which may impact the DWSRF capitalization grant appropriation.

Drinking Water Grant Programs

AWIA addresses several drinking water infrastructure issues by revising an existing grant program and authorizing additional grant programs. These grant programs are intended to (1) reduce lead in school drinking water, (2) support state responses to contamination or threats of contamination of drinking water supplies that may pose substantial endangerment to underserved communities, (3) assist disadvantaged communities in improving drinking water infrastructure resilience to natural hazards, and (4) improve drinking water systems serving Indian tribes in specified areas.

Voluntary School and Child Care Program Lead Testing Grant Program (AWIA Section 2006(a))

Section 2006 of AWIA revises an existing grant program to address the sources of lead contamination in drinking water at schools. The 2016 WIIN Act repealed and replaced SDWA Section 1464(d) to direct EPA to establish the Voluntary School and Child Care Program Lead Testing Grant Program. This grant program provides funds to test for lead in drinking water at

schools and child care programs through local education agencies (LEAs).⁵⁰ The WIIN act authorized annual appropriations of \$20.0 million for FY2017 through FY2021 for this grant program.⁵¹ The 115th Congress appropriated \$20.0 million for this grant program for FY2018 in the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2018 (Section 430 of Title IV of P.L. 115-141).

Section 2006(a) of AWIA authorizes a \$5.0 million increase (from \$20.0 million to \$25.0 million) in the amount authorized to be appropriated for the existing Voluntary School and Child Care Program Lead Testing Grant Program in FY2020 and FY2021.⁵² The Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2019, included a FY2019 appropriation of \$25 million to support this grant program.⁵³ Section 2006 also amends SDWA Section 1464(d) and directs EPA to give grant priority to LEAs in low-income areas.

This provision requires EPA to provide technical assistance to lead testing grant recipients. The technical assistance may help identify opportunities to remediate lead contamination if found during the lead testing. Specifically, Section 2006(a) states that the technical assistance may include identification of (1) the source of lead contamination at the school or child care program, (2) state and federal grant programs to eliminate the source of lead contamination, (3) financing options for eliminating the source of lead contamination, and (4) nonprofit and other organizations to help the grantee eliminate the source of lead contamination.

Drinking Water Fountain Replacement for Schools (AWIA Section 2006(b))

Section 2006(b) of AWIA establishes the Drinking Water Fountain Replacement for Schools program. This section requires EPA to implement a drinking water fountain replacement grant program for water fountains manufactured prior to 1988.⁵⁴ EPA must prioritize grants based on LEAs' economic needs. This section authorizes the annual appropriation of \$5.0 million for this grant program for FY2019-FY2021.⁵⁵

Drinking Water System Infrastructure Resilience and Sustainability Program (AWIA Section 2005(4))

AWIA Section 2005 amends SDWA Section 1459A to authorize EPA to establish the Drinking Water System Infrastructure Resilience and Sustainability Program, which is a new grant program for small and disadvantaged public water systems. This section authorizes EPA to award grant funds to eligible public water systems for projects that increase resilience to natural hazards,

⁵⁰ WIIN Section 2107 repealed and replaced the Remedial Action Program (SDWA§1464(d) [42 U.S.C. §300j-24(d)]) with the Voluntary School and Child Care Program Lead Testing Grant Program. The Remedial Action Program, added by the Lead Contamination Control Act of 1988 (P.L. 100-572), required states to establish remedial action programs for removing lead from school drinking water. This included repairing, replacing, removing, or rendering inoperable all drinking water coolers that were not lead free. In 1996, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit found the requirements to be "an unconstitutional intrusion upon the States' sovereign prerogative to legislate as it sees fit" (in violation of the Tenth Amendment). *ACORN v. Edwards*, 81 F.3rd 1837 (5th Cir. 1996).

⁵¹ For more information about the other appropriations for grant programs authorized by the WIIN act, see CRS In Focus IF10883, *Overview of U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) Water Infrastructure Programs and FY2018 Appropriations*, by Mary Tiemann and Jonathan L. Ramseur.

⁵² WIIN Section 2107 revised SDWA §1464(d) (42 U.S.C. §300j-24(d)).

⁵³ P.L. 116-6, Title IV, §429(b)(3).

⁵⁴ SDWA §1463 *et seq.*; 42 U.S.C. §300j-23, added by the Lead Contamination Control Act of 1988 (P.L. 100-572), prohibits the sale and use of drinking water coolers that are not "lead free" (as defined in the act).

⁵⁵ SDWA §1465 et seq.; 42 U.S.C. §300j-25 et seq.

including hydrologic changes.⁵⁶ Eligible projects include those that increase water use efficiency, enhance water supply through watershed management or desalination, and increase energy efficiency in the conveyance or treatment of drinking water. This section authorizes appropriations of \$4.0 million for each of FY2019 and FY2020 for this program.

Grants to Respond to Imminent and Substantial Endangerment (AWIA Section 2005)

Section 2005 also revises SDWA Section 1459A to add an EPA-administered grant program to help states assist underserved communities to respond to imminent and substantial contamination.⁵⁷ This section authorizes EPA to make grants to requesting states to assist communities when contaminants are present in and pose an imminent and substantial threat to their public water system or underground drinking water sources and when EPA or a court of competent jurisdiction determines that the appropriate authorities have not responded in a sufficient manner. This section also authorizes EPA to recover funds from grant recipients who are found to have caused or contributed to the contamination addressed by the grant program. SDWA Section 1459A authorizes appropriations of \$60.0 million to support this and other grant programs for small and disadvantaged communities authorized therein.

Drinking Water Infrastructure for Indians Tribes (AWIA Section 2001)

Section 2001 of AWIA authorizes a new grant program at EPA for public water systems that serve federally recognized Indian tribes.⁵⁸ Section 2001 directs EPA—subject to appropriations—to establish a drinking water infrastructure grant program for 20 eligible projects (10 projects in the Upper Missouri River Basin and 10 projects in the Upper Rio Grande River Basin) to improve water quality, water pressure, or water services. One of the 10 projects in the Upper Missouri River Basin must serve two or more tribes. To be eligible, the public water system must either be on a reservation or serve a federally recognized Indian tribe. Section 2001 authorizes an appropriation \$20.0 million annually from FY2019 to FY2022 to support this program.

State Program Administration Grants (AWIA Section 2014)

SDWA authorizes EPA to make grants to primacy states and territories to implement the public water system supervision program (PWSS).⁵⁹ Although the authorization of appropriation for PWSS grants expired in FY2003, Congress has continued to appropriate funds for this program. While the appropriation amount has changed over time, since FY2014, Congress appropriated about \$101 million annually for grants to states to support the PWSS program.⁶⁰ States also use

⁵⁶ Eligible entities are defined in SDWA Section 1459A(c)(2)(B) [42 U.S.C. §300j-19a(c)(2)(B)]. *Natural hazard* is defined as a natural event that threatens the functioning of a community water system, including an earthquake, tornado, flood, hurricane, wildfire, and hydrologic changes (SDWA §1433(h)(2); 42 U.S.C. §300i-2(h)(2)).

⁵⁷ SDWA §1459A; 42 U.S.C. §300j-19a. Section 2104 of the WIIN Act (P.L. 114-322) directed EPA to establish a grant program to assist disadvantaged communities and small communities that are unable to finance projects. Section 2104 authorized appropriations of \$60.0 million per year for FY2020-FY2021 for this program. In FY2018, Congress appropriated \$20.0 million to support this grant program in the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2018 (P.L. 115-141). The Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2019, included a FY2019 appropriation of \$25 million to support grant programs included in SDWA Section 1459A (P.L. 116-6, Title IV, §429(b)(2)).

⁵⁸ This is a free-standing provision of AWIA that does not amend SDWA.

⁵⁹ SDWA §1413; 42 U.S.C. §300j-2.

⁶⁰ Historical data from EPA's Drinking Water Program Fund Allotments at https://www.epa.gov/dwreginfo/drinking-water-program-fund-allotments#Historical%20PWSS. The Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2019, included a FY2019

set-asides from the DWSRF capitalization grants and other state resources (e.g., state general funds and/or state-established fee programs) to support the PWSS program.⁶¹

In 2013, state drinking water administrators estimated that the states would require an additional \$308.0 million per year to support the PWSS program.⁶² They attribute this funding gap to increased workload for water system supervision for an increased number of regulated contaminants.⁶³

Section 2014 of AWIA reauthorizes appropriations for the PWSS program for FY2020 and FY2021, increasing the authorized appropriation from \$100.0 million to \$125.0 million for these two fiscal years.

Information to Consumers

Several provisions of AWIA amend SDWA to address consumer access to compliance data and the transparency of drinking water quality information.⁶⁴ These provisions seek to increase the understandability of drinking water quality information provided to consumers, notify consumers more frequently about their drinking water quality, and expand existing monitoring requirements to gather additional data on occurrence of unregulated contaminants.

Improved Consumer Confidence Reports (AWIA Section 2008)

Prior to AWIA, SDWA required public water systems to provide their customers with an annual consumer confidence report on their drinking water quality and SDWA compliance.⁶⁵ Section 1414(c) of SDWA required public water system operators in the consumer confidence reports to include the level of regulated contaminants and their associated maximum contaminant level or action level.

Section 2008 of AWIA revises the requirements for data included in the consumer confidence report. AWIA directs public water system operators to also report exceedances resulting in a treatment technique, other occurrences that required corrective action, corrosion control efforts, and any violations of SDWA that occurred during the monitoring period. The collection of this additional information expands the information captured in the consumer confidence report to include lead exceedances and associated lead treatment techniques.

AWIA Section 2008 also increases the frequency that operators of large public water systems (serving more than 10,000 consumers) produce and distribute consumer confidence reports from

appropriation of \$101.98 million to support the PWSS grant program (Title II of P.L. 116-6). The PWSS appropriation is included as a categorical grant in EPA's STAG account. Of the \$3.61 billion appropriated for the STAG account, the act requires a rescission of \$96.2 million, which may impact the PWSS grant appropriation.

⁶¹ SDWA Section 1452(g)(2)(B)(i) [42 U.S.C. §300j-12(a)(2)(B)(i)] authorizes states to use a portion of the DWSRF capitalization grant for the PWSS program. Association of State Drinking Water Administrators, "Insufficient Resources for State Drinking Water Programs Threaten Public Health," December 2013, p. ix, https://www.asdwa.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/SRNAP-Analysis.pdf.

⁶² Association of State Drinking Water Administrators, "Insufficient Resources," p. vii.

⁶³ Association of State Drinking Water Administrators, "Insufficient Resources," p. ix.

⁶⁴ U.S. Congress, House Committee on Energy and Commerce, Subcommittee on Environment, *Drinking Water System Improvement Act*, report to accompany H.R. 3387, 115th Cong., 1st sess., November 1, 2017, H.Rept. 115-380 (Washington: GPO, 2017), p. 27.

⁶⁵ SDWA §1414(c)(4); 42 U.S.C. §300g-3(c)(4).

annually to biannually. This section also expressly authorizes public water system operators to transmit the consumer confidence report electronically.

Strategic Plan to Address Compliance Monitoring Data (AWIA Section 2011)

Section 2011 of AWIA requires EPA to develop a strategic plan to improve the accuracy and availability of monitoring data shared between public water systems, the primacy states, and EPA. The strategic plan must identify barriers to (1) ensuring the accuracy of reported data, (2) submitting data electronically, and (3) retrieving reported data. The plan must also recommend economically feasible and practical ways to transmit monitoring data.

Monitoring for Unregulated Contaminants (AWIA Section 2021)

The 1996 amendments authorized a monitoring program for unregulated contaminants in public water supplies. The act requires EPA, every five years, to promulgate a rule requiring certain public water systems to monitor for up to 30 unregulated contaminants.⁶⁶ Unregulated Contaminant Monitoring Rules (UCMRs) are used to gather national occurrence data to inform EPA's review of contaminants that may warrant regulation.⁶⁷ For example, a 2012 UCMR (UCMR 3) required systems to test their water for the presence of six poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances, including perfluorooctanoic acid and perfluorooctanesulfonic acid.⁶⁸ Prior to enactment of AWIA, SDWA required monitoring by all large public water systems (serving more than 10,000 consumers) and a representative sample of small public water systems (serving 10,000 consumers or fewer). For the 800 small public water systems sampled in UCMR 3, EPA funded the monitoring costs.⁶⁹ AWIA Section 2021(b) reauthorized \$10.0 million to be appropriated for each year for FY2019-FY2021 for this program. The authority to appropriate funds for the unregulated contaminant monitoring program expired in FY2003, although Congress has continued to appropriate funds for the program.

Section 2021(a) of AWIA expands unregulated contaminant monitoring requirements to include public water systems serving 3,300-10,000 individuals—subject to the availability of appropriations for this purpose and lab capacity. This requirement enters into effect three years after the enactment date of AWIA (i.e., October 23, 2021). This section authorizes \$15.0 million to be appropriated for each year from FY2019 through FY2021 to support the expanded monitoring.

Requiring monitoring by a larger number of public water systems for unregulated contaminants is intended to provide a more comprehensive assessment of the occurrence of unregulated contaminants in public water supplies.⁷⁰ As of December 2018, EPA's database indicated that more than 5,000 public water systems serve from 3,301 to 10,000 individuals.⁷¹ This subset of

⁶⁶ SDWA §1445(a)(2); 42 U.S.C. §300j-4(a)(2).

⁶⁷ SDWA §1445(a)(2); 42 U.S.C. §300j-4(a)(2).

⁶⁸ EPA, "UCMR 3 Fact Sheet: Searching for Emerging Contaminants in Drinking Water," May 2012, https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-10/documents/ucmr3_factsheet_general.pdf.

⁶⁹ SDWA §1445(a)(2)(C)(ii); 42 U.S.C. §300j-4(a)(2)(C)(ii). This provision directs EPA to cover testing and laboratory analysis costs for small systems, using funds reserved from the annual DWSRF capitalization grant (SDWA §1452(o); 42 U.S.C. §300j-12(o)).

⁷⁰ U.S. Congress, House Committee on Energy and Commerce, Subcommittee on Environment, *Drinking Water System Improvement Act*, report to accompany H.R. 3387, 115th Cong., 1st sess., November 1, 2017, H.Rept. 115-380 (Washington: GPO, 2017), p. 37.

⁷¹ From EPA's Safe Drinking Water Information Systems: Water System Summary report. The search parameters were

systems serves more than 30 million individuals in total.⁷² The monitoring by these additional systems would provide more occurrence data to inform EPA's determination of whether a particular contaminant warrants a nationwide regulation.⁷³

Compliance Capacity Development

The 1996 SDWA amendments authorized programs to assist public water systems with SDWA compliance. Technical assistance, operator certification, and other programs seek to improve the technical, managerial, and financial capacity of public water systems to achieve and maintain compliance with drinking water regulations.⁷⁴ Other provisions authorize incentives for SDWA compliance by encouraging consolidation of public water systems.⁷⁵ AWIA authorizes new programs and revises authorities to further support and enhance public water system capacity to comply with SDWA.

Asset Management (AWIA Section 2012)

AWIA Section 2012 amends SDWA capacity development provisions (SDWA §1420). This provision directs states to revise their capacity development strategies to include a description of how they will encourage public water systems to develop asset management plans. Asset management is a budgetary and planning process that public water systems may undertake to evaluate their capital assets and plan the maintenance of their infrastructure (e.g., pumps, motors, and piping) to ensure that the water system can fund the costs.⁷⁶ Some urban water utilities and other stakeholders argue that asset management can help lower the overall operation and maintenance costs, as it may lead to fewer infrastructure failure incidents (e.g., pipe ruptures).⁷⁷ Asset management is not statutorily required. EPA has issued educational materials and provided training for water systems that choose to develop an asset management plan. EPA and the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) have also provided support to assist small water utilities with asset management.⁷⁸

This section further amends SDWA Section 1420 to require states to demonstrate their progress in encouraging public water systems to develop asset management plans. Every five years, EPA must review and update (if necessary) the asset management materials that EPA makes available.⁷⁹ According to the House Energy and Commerce Committee Report (H.Rept. 115-380),

⁷⁵ SDWA §1420(c); 42 U.S.C. §300g-9(c).

⁷⁶ EPA, "Asset Management: A Best Practices Guide," April 2008, http://nepis.epa.gov/Exe/ZyPDF.cgi/ P1000LP0.PDF?Dockey=P1000LP0.PDF.

⁷⁷ U.S. Congress, House Committee on Energy and Commerce, Subcommittee on Environment, *Reinvestment and Rehabilitation of our Nation's Safe Drinking Water Delivery Systems*, 115th Cong., 1st sess., March 16, 2017, H. Hrg. 115-13 (Washington: GPO, 2017), testimony from Mr. Rudolph Chow, p. 99.

⁷⁸ GAO, Water Infrastructure: EPA and USDA Are Helping Small Water Utilities with Asset Management; Opportunities Exist to Better Track Results, GAO-16-237, January 27, 2016, https://www.gao.gov/products/GAO-16-237.

⁷⁹ Section 2012 of AWIA adds SDWA Section 1420(d)(5).

community water systems, non-transient non-community water systems, and transient non-community water systems serving 3,301 to 10,000 or more individuals.

⁷² Water System Summary report.

⁷³ SDWA §1412(b)(1)(B); 42 U.S.C. §300g-1(b)(1)(B).

⁷⁴ U.S. Congress, House Committee on Commerce, *Safe Drinking Water Act Amendments of 1996*, to accompany H.R. 3604, 104th Cong., 2nd sess., June 24, 1996, H.Rept. 104-632 (Washington: GPO, 1996), p. 34. Provisions of H.R. 3604 were included in S. 1316, which was signed into law as P.L. 104-182.

such asset management technical assistance will improve the economic sustainability of public water systems.⁸⁰

Consolidation by Management Contract (AWIA Section 2009)

Some public water systems may lack the technical, managerial, and financial capacity to meet regulatory standards, fund drinking water repairs or upgrades, identify or access source water, and manage budgetary constraints.⁸¹ Among other strategies, such systems may address these challenges by consolidating with or transferring ownership to another water system where feasible.⁸² EPA states that this type of restructuring can be effective in returning noncompliant public water systems to SDWA compliance or building technical, managerial, and financial capacity.⁸³

The SDWA amendments of 1996 amended SDWA enforcement provisions to authorize limited enforcement relief as an incentive for noncompliant public water systems to consolidate with other systems.⁸⁴ If a system faces a particular compliance violation, SDWA Section 1414(h) authorizes public water systems to submit a plan to primacy states or EPA for the physical consolidation or the consolidation of management and administrative functions with another public water system or the transfer of ownership of a public water system. If the plan to consolidate or transfer ownership is approved by a primacy state or EPA, enforcement action against that public water system for the specified violation would not be taken for two years.⁸⁵

Section 2009 of AWIA provides that, in addition to the physical or management consolidation or transfer of ownership, a public water system may also submit a plan to execute a contractual agreement with another public water system to manage the noncompliant public water system.

Consolidation Assessments (AWIA Section 2010)

Section 2010 of AWIA authorizes primacy states or EPA to require, under certain circumstances, public water systems to assess options for consolidation or transfer of ownership.⁸⁶ This section specifies that the required assessments be proportionate to the size of public water system. Therefore, a small public water system would complete an assessment that is less complex than a larger system. Any public water systems that consolidate, as a result of an assessment, are eligible for financial assistance from the DWSRF.

⁸⁰ U.S. Congress, House Committee on Energy and Commerce, Subcommittee on Environment, *Drinking Water System Improvement Act*, report to accompany H.R. 3387, 115th Cong., 1st sess., November 1, 2017, H.Rept. 115-380 (Washington: GPO, 2017), p. 30.

⁸¹ EPA, "Restructuring and Consolidation of Small Drinking Water Systems: A Compendium of State Authorities, Statutes, and Regulations," 2007, p. 6, https://nepis.epa.gov/Exe/ZyPURL.cgi?Dockey=60000L09.txt.

⁸² EPA, "Restructuring and Consolidation," p. 7.

⁸³ EPA, "Restructuring and Consolidation," p. 7.

⁸⁴ SDWA §1414(h)(2); 42 U.S.C. §300g-3(h)(2).

⁸⁵ SDWA §1414(h)(2); 42 U.S.C. §300g-3(h)(2).

⁸⁶ Section 2010 of AWIA outlines the specific circumstances when EPA can require consolidation assessments. These circumstances include (1) when a public water system has repeatedly violated one or more primary drinking water regulation or is unable or unwilling to take feasible and affordable actions to address compliance with the SDWA or has undertaken actions to address compliance but has not achieved compliance; (2) when a consolidation, transfer, or other action is feasible; or (3) when a consolidation will result in greater compliance with SDWA. SDWA §1414(h)(3); 42 U.S.C. §300g-3(h)(3).

This section also provides limited liability protection for the owner or operator who has a stateapproved consolidation plan. In the consolidation plan, the owner or operator of public water system must identify any potential or existing liabilities from specific violations and their available assets. This section limits the liability of a consolidating system to the amount of its assets and to the liabilities identified in the plan. This section also requires EPA to promulgate regulations to implement these provisions.

Intractable Water Systems (AWIA Section 2003)

Section 2003 of AWIA defines *intractable water system* as a public water system serving fewer than 1,000 individuals that the owner or operator effectively abandoned for a range of reasons, including financial default, significant noncompliance with SDWA, or failure to maintain facilities.⁸⁷ Section 2003 directs EPA, in collaboration with the USDA and the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, to conduct a study on these systems to gather more information about intractable water systems and barriers to deliver potable water.

Water Infrastructure Workforce Development (AWIA Section 4304)

Section 4304 of AWIA seeks to address concerns about the rate for replacing workers by establishing a water-specific workforce development competitive grant program. While estimates vary, the increasing rate of retirement among water sector employees has generated interest in water sector workforce development. A 2010 report from AWWA and the Water Research Foundation estimated that 30%-50% of water sector employees will retire over the following 10 years.⁸⁸ Similarly, the Department of Labor's Bureau of Labor Statistics projected that annually 8.2% of water operators will need to be replaced between 2016 and 2026.⁸⁹ In 2018, the U.S. Government Accountability Office (GAO) also concluded that EPA could take additional steps to address water sector workforce development and succession planning.⁹⁰

Section 4304 directs EPA, in consultation with USDA, to establish the Innovative Water Infrastructure Workforce Development program. It authorizes EPA to award grants to institutions of higher education, nonprofit organizations, or labor organizations for a wide range of activities including bridge programs for water utilities, educational programs to increase public awareness of career opportunities in the water sector, and leadership development. This section authorizes appropriations of \$1.0 million annually for FY2019 and FY2020 to support this grant program.

Protecting Source Water

As noted in the "Source Water Assessment and Protection" section of this report, AWIA makes other amendments to the DWSRF provisions related to source water. It authorizes the use of DWSRF set-asides for source water assessment and protection activities. In addition, AWIA

⁸⁷ Although Section 2003 does not amend SDWA, it addresses public water systems that are out of compliance with SDWA requirements, and so it is included in this section.

⁸⁸ Terry Brueck et al., "Water Sector Workforce Sustainability Initiative," Water Research Foundation and AWWA, 2010, http://www.waterrf.org/Pages/Projects.aspx?PID=4206.

⁸⁹ As cited in GAO, Recruiting Approaches Helped Industry Hire Water and Wastewater Workforce: Recruiting Approaches Helped Industry Hire Operators, but Additional EPA Guidance Could Help Identify Future Needs," GAO-18-102, January 2018, https://www.gao.gov/assets/690/689646.pdf.

⁹⁰ GAO recommended that EPA include workforce planning questions in its inspection guidance documents. EPA agreed with the recommendation to add such questions to the sanitary surveys for drinking water utilities. GAO, *Recruiting Approaches*.

reauthorizes appropriations to a source water program and revises certain notification requirements to better enable public water systems to know of and respond to contamination.

Source Water Petition Programs (AWIA Section 2016)

Section 2016 of AWIA reauthorizes \$5.0 million in annual appropriations for FY2020 and FY2021 to support the source water protection partnership petition program (SDWA §1454). SDWA Section 1454 authorized states to establish this program, in which public water system operators and the community members request state assistance to form a voluntary partnership to prevent source water degradation. The authorization of appropriation for this program had expired in FY2003.

Planning for and Responding to Chemical Releases (AWIA Section 2018)

AWIA Section 2018 amends the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act of 1986 (EPCRA; P.L. 99-499) to enhance awareness among community water system operators of

- a hazardous substance or an extremely hazardous substance released into the drinking water source of the water system and
- a broader group of hazardous chemicals stored at facilities located near their water system to help facilitate emergency preparedness in the event of a release.

EPCRA Section 312 is intended to enhance emergency preparedness in an event of a chemical release. This provision requires a facility operator or owner to report hazardous chemicals present at their site in excess of certain thresholds⁹¹ to the State Emergency Response Commission (SERC), relevant Local Emergency Planning Committee (LEPC), and the local fire department with jurisdiction over the facility.⁹² Section 312(e) authorizes any person to request specified information about chemicals stored at a specified facility from that SERC or LEPC.⁹³ Section 304 of EPCRA addresses notification when a release occurs.⁹⁴ This provision requires a facility operator or owner to notify the SERC and the relevant LEPC of releases of a smaller subset of hazardous chemicals, specifically hazardous substances and other extremely hazardous substances.⁹⁵ EPCRA Section 325 authorizes EPA to fine facility owners or operators if they do not comply with these emergency planning and release notification requirements, in addition to other requirements in EPCRA.⁹⁶

Section 2018 of AWIA amends EPCRA Section 304 to require the SERC to notify the state drinking water agency of releases of hazardous substances and other extremely hazardous substances. This provision requires the state drinking water agency in turn to forward the notice to community water systems with source waters that are affected by the release. In states where

⁹¹ 40 C.F.R. Part 370. EPCRA Section 312 applies to hazardous chemicals under the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970 (29 U.S.C. §§651-678). For more information about emergency planning and notification at chemical facilities, see CRS Report R44952, *EPA's Role in Emergency Planning and Notification at Chemical Facilities*, by Richard K. Lattanzio and David M. Bearden.

⁹² EPCRA §312(b); 42 U.S.C. §11022(b). States established SERCs and LEPCs under their respective authorities pursuant to the framework in EPCRA Section 301 (42 U.S.C. §11001).

^{93 42} U.S.C. §11022(e).

⁹⁴ 42 U.S.C. §11004.

⁹⁵ Hazardous substances are listed in Title 40, Part 302, of the *Code of Federal Regulations*, and extremely hazardous substances are listed in Appendix A and B of Title 40, Part 355, of the *Code of Federal Regulations*.

⁹⁶ EPCRA §325(b)(2); 42 U.S.C. §11045(b)(2).

EPA retains SDWA primacy, AWIA Section 2018 requires the SERC to provide notice to community water systems with source waters affected by the release of hazardous substances and extremely hazardous substances as defined by EPCRA.⁹⁷ The EPCRA provisions added by AWIA would not change a facility owner or operator's reporting requirements, and EPCRA enforcement provisions apply only to facility owners or operators.

In addition, Section 2018 amends EPCRA Section 312 to expressly authorize community water systems operators to request information on hazardous chemicals at facilities from SERC or LEPC.⁹⁸ Access to this information existed in EPCRA prior to this amendment, but AWIA Section 2018 amends EPCRA to expressly include community water systems.

Public Water System Resilience and Sustainability (AWIA Section 2013)

AWIA Section 2013 amends SDWA to address the resilience and sustainability of water systems to both natural and intentional threats.⁹⁹ This provision replaces SDWA Section 1433, which was added by the Public Health Security and Bioterrorism Preparedness and Response Act of 2002 (P.L. 107-188; Title IV).¹⁰⁰ Prior to AWIA, SDWA Section 1433 required water systems to assess their vulnerabilities to terrorist or other intentional acts and, based on the assessment, prepare emergency response plans. The statute required public water system operators to certify their assessments by a specified deadline but did not require public water systems to update their risk assessments or emergency response plans.¹⁰¹

Extreme weather events, such as hurricanes and wildfires, may require an emergency response to repair drinking water quality and supply.¹⁰² Accordingly, some stakeholders have testified that drinking water systems should address the risks of weather events and other natural hazards in their assessment and planning deliberations.¹⁰³ EPA, with water partners, has developed tools and

⁹⁷ As defined by AWIA amendment to EPCRA, *community water system* conforms to the definition of *community water system* in SDWA Section 1401. SDWA Section 1401(15) defines *community water system* as a public water system that (A) serves at least 15 service connections used by year-round residents of the area served by the system or (B) regularly serves at least 25 year-round residents.

⁹⁸ A water system may request "Tier II" information, which is defined by EPCRA Section 312(d)(2) [42 U.S.C. §11022(d)(2)].

⁹⁹ U.S. Congress, House Committee on Energy and Commerce, Subcommittee on Environment, Drinking Water System Improvement Act, report to accompany H.R. 3387, 115th Cong., 1st sess., November 1, 2017, H.Rept. 115-380 (Washington: GPO, 2017), p. 31.

^{100 42} U.S.C. §300i-2.

¹⁰¹ SDWA Section 1433(a)(2) [42 U.S.C. §300i-2(a)(2)] required community water systems serving 100,000 or more to certify their assessments by March 31, 2003; community water systems serving between 50,000 and 100,000 individuals by December 31, 2003; and community water systems serving between 3,300 and 50,000 individuals by June 30, 2004. Community water systems had to develop emergency response plans within six months of their certification due dates.

¹⁰² See EPA emergency response information at the following websites: https://response.epa.gov/site/site_profile.aspx? site_id=12353; https://www.epa.gov/newsreleases/epa-acts-increase-supply-clean-drinking-water-us-virgin-islands; https://www.epa.gov/newsreleases/epa-continues-its-response-hurricane-maria-focus-turns-long-term-recovery.

¹⁰³ U.S. Congress, House Committee on Energy and Commerce, Subcommittee on Environment, *Reinvestment and Rehabilitation of our Nation's Safe Drinking Water Delivery Systems*, 115th Cong., 1st sess., March 16, 2017, H.Hrg. 115-13 (Washington: GPO, 2017), testimony from Gregory DiLoreto (p. 124).

provided training and technical assistance to water utilities to increase their resilience to extreme weather events.¹⁰⁴

AWIA Section 2013 expands the risk types addressed in a public water system's assessment to include risks of natural hazards and malevolent acts.¹⁰⁵ In addition, community water systems are required to evaluate the resilience of their current physical infrastructure and their management practices, including financial capacity to respond to these risks. Based on the assessment, public water systems must also develop emergency response plans that address the risks and resilience issues that systems may face. Public water systems serving 3,300 or more persons must review their assessments every five years and update them if needed. This provision requires public water systems to coordinate with the relevant LEPC when preparing or revising a risk assessment or emergency response plan. The assessments and response plans are voluntary for public water systems serving fewer than 3,300 people. These public water systems must certify their assessments and submit the certifications to EPA by deadlines specific to the communities' size.¹⁰⁶

To facilitate compliance with this section, Section 2013 authorized public water systems to use technical standards developed by third-party organizations to structure the assessment and plans. Federal agencies were first authorized to use technical standards developed by third-party organizations, when appropriate, in 1995.¹⁰⁷ Some argue that this alternative route to compliance may help minimize federal administrative burdens while recognizing the efforts of third-party organizations in developing assessment and planning standards.¹⁰⁸ Section 2013 authorized \$25.0 million to be appropriated each year for FY2020 and FY2021 for EPA to make grants to public water systems to plan or implement projects to address their system's resiliency.

AWIA Section 2013 requires EPA to issue guidance and provide technical assistance on conducting assessments and preparing emergency response plans for public water systems serving fewer than 3,300 individuals. Section 2013 authorizes appropriations of \$10.0 million for grants to public water systems serving fewer than 3,300 people and grants to nonprofit organizations to support these activities.

Review of Technologies (AWIA Section 2017)

Section 2017 of AWIA adds SDWA Section 1459D to require EPA to review approaches or technologies that help ensure physical integrity of drinking water systems, address contamination, develop alternative water sources, and facilitate source water protection. In conducting this review, EPA is required to evaluate equipment and technologies for their cost, efficacy, and availability. The review of technologies explicitly includes approaches related to distribution systems (e.g., leak prevention, corrosion control, metering), intelligent systems that address the

¹⁰⁶ Section 2013(a)(3)(A) of AWIA requires community water systems serving 100,000 or more to certify their assessments by March 31, 2020; community water systems serving between 50,000 and 100,000 individuals by December 31, 2020; and community water systems serving between 3,300 and 50,000 individuals by June 30, 2021. Community water systems must develop emergency response plans within six months of their certification due dates.

¹⁰⁷ The National Technology Transfer and Advancement Act of 1995 (P.L. 104-113) directed federal agencies to use technical standards developed by third-party organizations.

¹⁰⁴ See EPA, "Creating Resilient Water Utilities (CRWU)," https://www.epa.gov/crwu.

¹⁰⁵ SDWA Section 1433(h)(2) [42 U.S.C. §300i-2(h)(2)] defines *natural hazard* as a natural event that threatens the functioning of a community water system, including an earthquake, tornado, flood, hurricane, wildfire, or hydrologic changes.

¹⁰⁸ U.S. Congress, House Committee on Energy and Commerce, *Drinking Water System Improvement Act*, 115th Cong., 1st sess., November 1, 2017, H. Doc 115-380, p. 34.

distribution systems, point-of-entry or point-of-use devices, real-time contaminant monitoring, and non-traditional sources of water. This section authorizes appropriation of \$10.0 million in FY2019 for this purpose.

Report on Federal Cross-Cutting Requirements (AWIA Section 2019)

AWIA Section 2019 requires GAO to report to Congress on any duplicative or substantially similar requirements of state and local environmental law to federal cross-cutting requirements.¹⁰⁹

In 2015, GAO concluded that the existing federal financing mechanisms to rehabilitate or replace aging water infrastructure are complex and that small water systems lack the technical expertise to apply for federal financial assistance.¹¹⁰ Regarding federal cross-cutting requirements, GAO reported that water systems often face duplicative state requirements when applying for financial assistance for drinking water infrastructure.¹¹¹ Representatives of public water systems have testified that compliance with federal cross-cutting requirements is burdensome, as DWSRF projects must often comply with similar state and local requirements.¹¹²

Disaster Assistance (AWIA Section 2020)

Section 2020 of AWIA authorizes the appropriation of \$100.0 million, available for 24 months, for grants to certain public water systems in specified disaster areas.¹¹³ Section 2020 of AWIA allows additional subsidization (e.g., grants, forgiveness of loan principal, negative interest rate loans, or zero-interest rate loans) for eligible public water systems regardless of whether they meet the statutory designation of disadvantaged. Section 2020(a)(3) defines *eligible public water system* as a water system that (1) serves an area for which the President declared a major disaster (after January 1, 2017) and provided disaster assistance or (2) is capable of extending drinking water services to underserved areas.¹¹⁴ Projects eligible for these subsidies are those that restore or increase compliance with national drinking water standards, including expanding drinking water service to underserved areas.

To access this subsidization, this section requires states to submit a supplemental intended use plan with relevant information on the public water system project, the intended use of the funds, estimated cost, and projected start date. This section also exempts Puerto Rico from the 20%

¹⁰⁹ Although Section 2019 of AWIA does not amend the SDWA, it addresses the administration of the DWSRF program.

¹¹⁰ GAO, Rural Water Infrastructure: Federal Agencies Provide Funding but Could Help Increase Coordination to Help Communities, GAO-15-450T, February 27, 2015, p. 7, https://www.gao.gov/products/GAO-15-450T.

¹¹¹ GAO, Rural Water Infrastructure, p. 9.

¹¹² U.S. Congress, House Committee on Energy and Commerce, Subcommittee on Environment, *Drinking Water System Improvement Act and Related Issues of Funding, Management, and Compliance Assistance under the Safe Drinking Water Act*, 115th Cong., 1st sess., May 19, 2017, testimony from Kurt Vause (p. 61 of preliminary transcript).

¹¹³ This section does not amend SDWA but authorizes additional assistance to drinking water systems that serve areas impacted by natural disasters. Section 2020(a)(2) uses the definition of *states* from SDWA Section 1401(13)(B) [42 U.S.C. §300f-(13)(B)], which is 50 states, the District of Columbia, and Puerto Rico.

¹¹⁴ Section 2020 of AWIA defines *underserved area* a geographic area in an eligible state that is (1) served by a community water system that serves fewer than 50,000 people where service was disrupted and (2) received disaster assistance.

state-match for any funds received under this section, which is generally required by SDWA Section 1452(e).

Water Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act (WIFIA) Program

The Water Resources Reform and Development Act of 2014 (P.L. 113-121) included WIFIA, which authorized both EPA and USACE to administer a five-year pilot program to help finance a broad range of water infrastructure projects.¹¹⁵ The EPA-administered WIFIA program provides credit assistance (e.g., direct loans) to eligible entities for different types of drinking water and wastewater infrastructure projects (e.g., desalination or water recharge).¹¹⁶ Eligible projects for EPA-administered assistance from WIFIA include projects that are eligible for the Clean Water State Revolving Fund (CWSRF) and the DWSRF. However unlike the DWSRF, WIFIA-financed projects generally need not be associated with SDWA compliance or public health goals. Qualifying projects for WIFIA assistance must generally cost \$20.0 million or more.¹¹⁷ In an effort to encourage nonfederal and private sector financing, WIFIA assistance generally cannot exceed 49% of project costs.¹¹⁸

In FY2017, Congress appropriated \$25.0 million to cover EPA's subsidy costs of WIFIA loans and \$5.0 million for administrative purposes.¹¹⁹ For FY2018, Congress provided \$63.0 million for the EPA-administered WIFIA program in the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2018 (P.L. 115-141). Of this amount, Congress directed \$55.0 million for WIFIA projects, which EPA estimated would be leveraged into \$5.50 billion of credit assistance.¹²⁰ EPA began issuing loans in 2018.¹²¹ The Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2019, included \$60.0 million to cover EPA's subsidy costs of WIFIA loans and \$8.0 million to support program administration.¹²² These appropriations are available until expended.

¹¹⁵ Title 33, Section 3902 of the *United States Code* (P.L. 113-121) authorized USACE to provide similar credit assistance for a variety of water resource development projects. Eligible projects also include USACE-related projects to reduce flood damage, restore aquatic ecosystems, and improve navigation (33 U.S.C. §3905). The USACE-administered WIFIA program focuses on water resource projects. As of early 2019, the WIFIA program had not advanced into implementation. Congress provided USACE with direction in FY2019 appropriations report language (e.g., H.Rept. 115-929) to develop its proposal for WIFIA implementation.

¹¹⁶ For more information about the WIFIA program, see CRS Report R43315, *Water Infrastructure Financing: The Water Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act (WIFIA) Program*, by Jonathan L. Ramseur and Mary Tiemann.

¹¹⁷ 33 U.S.C. §3907(i)(2). Projects in rural areas (serving 25,000 or fewer persons) must cost \$5 million or more.

¹¹⁸ Title 33, Section 3912(d), of the *United States Code* authorizes EPA to make 25% of funds made available for loans in each fiscal year to be for loans in excess of 49% of total project costs.

¹¹⁹ Congress appropriated the \$30 million for WIFIA through two FY2017 appropriations acts (P.L. 114-254 and P.L. 115-31).

¹²⁰ EPA, "Notice of Funding Availability (NOFA) for Applications for Credit Assistance Under the Water Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act (WIFIA) Program," 83 *Federal Register* 15828, April 12, 2018, https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2018/04/12/2018-07513/notice-of-funding-availability-nofa-forapplications-for-credit-assistance-under-the-water.

¹²¹ EPA, "EPA Announces First Water Infrastructure Loan Under WIFIA," press release, April 20, 2018, https://www.epa.gov/newsreleases/epa-announces-first-water-infrastructure-loan-under-wifia.

¹²² Title II of the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2019 (P.L. 116-6) included a \$5.0 million appropriation for WIFIA credit assistance and a \$5.0 million appropriation for administrative purposes. Section 429(c) of Title IV of the act included an additional appropriation of \$58.0 million, of which \$3.0 million is for administrative purposes. H.Rept. 116-9, which accompanied P.L. 116-6, stated that the \$60.0 million for WIFIA credit assistance is intended to translate

WIFIA Program Revisions (AWIA Section 4201)

Section 4201 of AWIA amends WIFIA provisions to remove the pilot designation from the program, reauthorizes appropriations, and revises provisions related to program administration. Section 4201 authorizes appropriations of \$50.0 million each year for FY2020 and FY2021 for EPA. This section increases the amount of appropriations that EPA can use for administrative purposes, including technical assistance for projects, from \$2.2 million to \$5 million. AWIA prohibits repayment of WIFIA assistance from the federal grants that fund the CWSRF and the DWSRF.

Several revisions to the WIFIA program address state finance authorities' use of WIFIA financial assistance.¹²³ AWIA authorizes an additional \$5 million to be appropriated (under certain conditions, discussed below) for WIFIA to provide credit assistance to state finance authorities to support combined projects eligible for assistance from the CWSRF and DWSRF. When this additional appropriation is made, Section 4201(b) of AWIA authorizes state financing authorities to use WIFIA financial assistance to cover 100% of project costs.¹²⁴ As discussed earlier, WIFIA financing generally supports up to 49% of project costs.¹²⁵

The additional \$5.0 million appropriation is available only to the extent that both the CWSRF and the DWSRF are funded at FY2018 levels or 105% or more of the previous year's funding, whichever is greater, and when EPA receives at least \$50.0 million in WIFIA appropriations.

Section 4201(b)(2) of AWIA clarifies that state finance authorities cannot pass WIFIA application fees on to parties that utilize the credit assistance.¹²⁶ Prior to AWIA, WIFIA projects required two letters of credit from rating agencies. Section 4201(a)(2) of AWIA authorizes projects from state finance authorities to supply one letter of credit. In addition, AWIA requires EPA to review and approve or provide guidance on WIFIA projects submitted by state finance authorities within 180 days of submittal.

AWIA Section 4201authorizes EPA to enter into agreements with other relevant agencies authorized to provide WIFIA assistance to allow EPA to administer the WIFIA program for another authorized agency. Relatedly, Section 4301 of AWIA specifically directs EPA and the commissioner of the Bureau of Reclamation to enter into such an agreement. Such agreements may help prevent the duplication of WIFIA-related administrative functions across federal agencies.

AWIA also requires GAO to report to Congress within three years of enactment on all projects that receive WIFIA assistance.

into more than \$7.00 billion in potential loan capacity.

¹²³ Title 33, Section 3901(12), of the *United States Code* defines *state infrastructure financing authority* as the state entity established or designated by the governor of a state to receive a CWSRF capitalization grant.

¹²⁴ 33 U.S.C. §3905(9); 33 U.S.C. §3912(e).

¹²⁵ In Title 33, Section 3912(d), of the *United States*, EPA and USACE are allowed to make loans in excess of 49% of total project costs.

¹²⁶ EPA, "Fees for Water Infrastructure Project Applications Under WIFIA, Final Rule," 82 *Federal Register* 29242, June 28, 2017. EPA's final rule requires a nonrefundable fee for each project that is invited to submit a full WIFIA application. The application fee is \$100,000, or \$25,000 for projects serving small communities. The fee would not be required in connection with submission of letters of interest but would be required for projects that EPA expects might reasonably proceed to closing on a credit assistance agreement.

WaterSense (AWIA Section 4306)

Initiated by EPA in 2006, WaterSense is a voluntary labeling program that identifies and promotes water-efficient products, buildings, and services.¹²⁷ Prior to the enactment of AWIA, WaterSense was not explicitly authorized in law. It is similar to the Department of Energy's (DOE) EnergyStar voluntary labeling program to promote energy efficiency.¹²⁸

Section 4306 of AWIA amends the Energy Policy Act of 2005 (P.L. 109-58) to establish the WaterSense program at EPA. Section 4306 authorizes EPA to establish specifications that products and services must meet to earn a WaterSense label, some of which differ from the original program. AWIA stipulates that products and services earning the WaterSense label must reduce water use, decrease strain on water systems, conserve energy, and preserve water resources. Section 4306 requires EPA to set detailed performance criteria for water efficiency. Every six years, EPA must review the water efficiency criteria and update them as necessary. AWIA authorizes EPA to establish the WaterSense performance criteria based on technical specifications and testing protocols of relevant voluntary consensus standards organizations. It also requires EPA to consider reviewing and revising WaterSense performance criteria established prior to January 1, 2012, by December 31, 2019.

Section 4306 establishes EPA's oversight responsibilities for the WaterSense program. These responsibilities include auditing the use of the WaterSense label, testing protocols, and managing the accreditation process for WaterSense certification bodies. This section directs EPA and DOE to coordinate to prevent duplicative or conflicting requirements in the WaterSense and EnergyStar programs.

AWIA explicitly requires the inclusion of certain products and services in the WaterSense program. These include irrigation technologies and services, point-of-use water treatment devices, plumbing products, water reuse and recycling technologies, various landscaping and gardening products and services, whole house humidifiers, and water-efficient buildings.¹²⁹

Innovative Water Technology Grant Program (AWIA Section 2007)

Section 2007 of AWIA directs EPA to administer a competitive grant program to accelerate the development of innovative water technology that addresses drinking water supply, quality, treatment or security.¹³⁰ Among the selection criteria for grants, EPA must prioritize projects that provide additional drinking water supplies with minimal environmental impact.¹³¹

Eligible grant recipients include research institutions, regional water organizations, nonprofit organizations, and institutions of higher education, which can partner with private entities. The

¹²⁷ For more information about the WaterSense program, see CRS In Focus IF11128, *WaterSense*® *Program: Congressional Authorization*, by Elena H. Humphreys.

¹²⁸ For more information on Energy Star, see CRS In Focus IF10753, *ENERGY STAR Program*, by Corrie E. Clark.

¹²⁹ Section 2004 of AWIA includes a sense of Congress statement expressing support for nonpotable water use. Section 2004 states that access to nonpotable water sources for specified purposes can help relieve potable water stress, encouraging water users to implement and incentivize nonpotable water reuse programs.

¹³⁰ Section 2007 of AWIA is similar to SDWA Section 1442(a)(1) [42 U.S.C. §300j-1(a)(1)], which allows for EPA to conduct research on innovative water technologies, among other purposes.

¹³¹ AWIA §2007(d). Other criteria include reducing costs and significantly improving human health or the environment.

maximum single grant award for any one recipient is \$5.0 million. Grant recipients may use these grants for developing, testing, or deploying water technologies or providing technical assistance to deploy existing innovative water technologies. EPA must submit a report to Congress that details advancements in water technology associated with this grant program. This section authorizes \$10.0 million to be appropriated each year for FY2019 and FY2020 to support this grant program.

Conclusion

With AWIA, the 115th Congress passed an omnibus water infrastructure and project authorization bill that affects several federal agencies. The act includes the most comprehensive amendments to the Safe Drinking Water Act since 1996, with overarching themes involving drinking water infrastructure affordability and water system compliance capacity and sustainability. The amendments authorize new competitive grant programs and activities that are broadly intended to help communities afford drinking water infrastructure improvements needed to achieve compliance with federal drinking water standards and protect public health. Other new SDWA programs authorize grants for projects and activities that (1) improve drinking water system sustainability and resiliency, (2) develop water system capacity to respond to contamination or other events, and (3) address lead in school drinking water.

AWIA's DWSRF provisions constitute the first major revision of the program since its establishment in 1996. As with the competitive grant programs, these revisions are intended to facilitate communities' access to DWSRF financial assistance. Among other purposes, AWIA's DWSRF revisions authorize the use of DWSRF funds for (1) source water protection activities, (2) providing additional financing flexibility for public water systems, (3) replacing and repairing aging infrastructure, and (4) increasing subsidies for disadvantaged communities.

AWIA authorizes additional water infrastructure assistance with revisions to the WIFIA program. In addition to making the program permanent, AWIA authorizes an additional appropriation for WIFIA assistance under certain conditions. These revisions further authorize EPA to partner with Bureau of Reclamation and other relevant agencies to allow for implementation of WIFIA credit assistance for a broader range of eligible water infrastructure projects.

Appendix A. Reports, Plans, and Regulations in AWIA (P.L. 115-270)

Table A-I. Reports, Plans, and Regulations Required in AWIA (P.L. 115-270)

Section	Requirement	Description	Due
Intractable Water Systems (AWIA §2003)	Report	EPA must submit a report to Congress on the findings and recommendations of the section's study.	Two years from enactment
Innovative Water Technology (AWIA §2007)	Report	EPA must submit to Congress and post on the internet a report on technological advancements made as a result of the grant program.	Annual
Improved Consumer Confidence Reports (AWIA Section 2008)	Regulations	EPA—in coordination with states, public water systems, and other stakeholders— must revise regulations for clarity and understandability of compliance and monitoring data.	Two years from enactment
Consolidation Assessments (AWIA §2010)	Regulations	EPA must promulgate regulations for consolidation assessments, contractual consolidations, and liability and asset evaluation.	Two years from enactment
Strategic Plan to Address Compliance Monitoring Data (AWIA §2011)	Strategic Plan	EPA—in coordination with states, public water systems, and other stakeholders— must develop a plan to improve the accuracy and availability of compliance and monitoring data.	One year from enactment
Review of Technologies (AWIA §2017)	Publicize Results	EPA must make public the results of a review of existing means, methods, equipment, and technologies that modernize drinking water systems, make other sources of drinking water available, or allow for decentralized drinking water treatment.	No timeline specified
Report on Federal Cross- Cutting Requirements (AWIA §2019)	Report	GAO—in consultation with EPA, states, and public water systems—must submit a report to Congress on substantially similar state or local requirements to federal cross-cutting requirements.	One year from enactment
WIFIA Program Revisions (AWIA §4201)	Report	GAO must submit a report to the House Committee on Transportation and Infrastructure and the Senate Committee on Environment and Public Works identifying projects financed by the WIFIA program.	Three years from enactment

Source: Compiled by CRS from information in the act.

Notes: This table includes only the EPA-related required reports, plans, and regulations and therefore is not comprehensive of all requirements in the act.

Appendix B. Cross Reference: AWIA, SDWA, and U.S. Code Sections

AWIA	SDWA	U.S. Code	Summary
Section 2002	SDWA §1452(k)	42 U.S.C. §300j-12(k)	Authorizes states to fund implementation of source water protection plans from DWSRF set- asides.
Section 2005	SDWA §1459A	42 U.S.C. §300j-19a	Authorizes EPA to make grants to states on behalf of an underserved community to respond to contamination that presents as an imminent threat.
Section 2006(a)	SDWA §1464(d)	42 U.S.C. §300j-24(d)	Revises the Voluntary School and Child Care Program Lead Testing Grant Program to require EPA to provide technical assistance to grant recipients for accessing resources to support the identification and remediation of lead contamination.
Section 2006(b)	Adds SDWA §1465	42 U.S.C. §300j-25	Requires EPA to establish a grant program for local educational agencies to replace drinking water fountains that were manufactured prior to 1988.
Section 2008	SDWA §1414(c)(4)	42 U.S.C. §300g-3(c)(4)	Revises water system reporting requirements for consumer confidence reports to address report understandability and increase reporting frequency for large systems.
Section 2009	SDWA §1414(h)(1)	42 U.S.C. §300g-3(i)(1)	To incentivize consolidation to promote SDWA compliance, adds that consolidation of two public water systems may also include entering into a contractual agreement for significant management functions to correct for violations.
Section 2010	SDWA §1414(h)(3)	42 U.S.C. §300g-3(h)(3)	Authorizes states to require certain public water systems to assess their options for consolidation or transfer of ownership to assist with SDWA compliance.
Section 2011	SDWA §1414(j)	42 U.S.C. §300g-3(j)	Requires EPA to develop a strategic plan to improve accuracy and availability of SDWA compliance monitoring data.

Table B-I. Cross Reference: AWIA (P.L. 115-270), SDWA, and U.S. Code Sections

AWIA	SDWA	U.S. Code	Summary
Section 2012	SDWA §1420	42 U.S.C. §300g-9	Requires EPA to encourage states to encourage water systems to develop asset management plans.
Section 2013	SDWA §1433	42 U.S.C. §300i-2	Replaces and expands existing SDWA Section 1433 (Terrorist and Other Intentional Acts) with requirements for community water systems to assess risk of and plan for natural hazards and malevolent acts.
Section 2014	SDWA §1443(a)(7)	42 U.S.C. §300j-2(a)(7)	Reauthorizes appropriations to support the states' public water system supervision programs.
Section 2015(a)	SDWA §1452(a)(2)(B)	42 U.S.C. §300j-12(a)(2)(B)	Specifies that rehabilitation and replacement of aging treatment, storage, or distribution facilities are an authorized use of DWSRF financial assistance.
Section 2015(b)	SDWA §1452(a)(5)	42 U.S.C. §300j-12(a)(5)	Adds Davis-Bacon prevailing wage requirements to DWSRF projects.
Section 2015(c)	SDWA §1452(d)(2)	42 U.S.C. §300j-12(d)(2)	Increases the amount of DWSRF capitalization grant that states may use to provide additional subsidization to disadvantaged communities.
Section 2015(d)	SDWA §1452(f)(1)	42 U.S.C. §300j-12(f)(1)	Extends the amortization period and initial payment period for DWSRF projects.
Section 2015(e)	SDWA §1452(h)	42 U.S.C. §300j-12(h)	Requires the DWSRF Needs Survey to include an assessment of the cost to replace lead service lines.
Section 2015(f)	SDWA §1452(k)(1)(C)	42 U.S.C. §300j-12(k)(1)(C)	Reauthorizes states' authority to fund source water assessment from DWSRF set-asides.
Section 2015(g)	SDWA §1452(s)	42 U.S.C. §300j-12(s)	Requires EPA to collect and report on DWSRF administration best practices from states.
Section 2016	SDWA §1454(e)	42 U.S.C. §300j-14(e)	Reauthorizes appropriations to support source water protection partnership petition programs.
Section 2017	SDWA §1459D	42 U.S.C. §300j	Requires EPA to review technologies to address the physical integrity of water systems, address contamination, provide alternative sources of water, and facilitate source water protection.
Section 2021	SDWA §1445(j)	42 U.S.C. §300j-4(j)	Expands the number of systems that must monitor for unregulated contaminants, contingent on appropriation.

AWIA	SDWA	U.S. Code	Summary
Section 2022	SDWA §1452(a)(4)(A)	42 U.S.C. §300j-12(a)(4)(A)	Requires the use of American iron and steel for DWSRF-financed projects from FY2019 to FY2021.
Section 2023	SDWA §1452(m)	42 U.S.C. §300j-12(m)	Reauthorizes appropriations for capitalization grants that support the states' DWSRF programs.

Source: Compiled by CRS.

Note: This table includes only the sections of AWIA that amend the Safe Drinking Water Act.

Appendix C. Other EPA-Related Provisions of AWIA

AWIA	U.S. Code	Summary
Section 4101	Newly authorized	Stormwater Task Force: Requires EPA to establish a stormwater infrastructure funding task force composed of representatives of federal, state, and local governments and private and nonprofit entities within 180 days of enactment. This task force must identify sources and adequacy of stormwater funding. EPA must submit a report to Congress within 18 months of enactment that describes the results of the study.
Section 4102	Newly authorized	Wastewater Technologies Clearinghouse: Requires EPA to collect information on cost-effective wastewater recycling and treatment technologies, including onsite and decentralized treatment technologies. EPA must disseminate this information to local governments and nonprofits seeking federal funds for wastewater technology information. EPA must report this information to Congress within one year of enactment and every three years thereafter.
Section 4103	33 U.S.C. §1254	Clean Water State Revolving Fund Technical Assistance: Amends Section 104 of the Clean Water Act (CWA) to authorize EPA to make grants to qualified nonprofits to provide technical assistance to help small rural and tribal publicly owned treatment works and decentralized wastewater treatment systems to comply with the CWA and apply for financing from the Clean Water State Revolving Fund (CWSRF). Authorization of Appropriations: \$25.0 million per year for FY2019-
		FY2023.
Section 4104	33 U.S.C. §1269	Long Island Sound: Amends CWA Section 119 to reauthorize several Long Island Sound programs. This section revises various requirements related to the implementation of these programs. Within two years of enactment, the Office of Long Island Sound Programs must submit a progress report to Congress.
		Authorization of Appropriations : \$40.0 million per year for FY2019- FY2023.
Section 4105	33 U.S.C. §1275(d)	Columbia River Basin: Amends CWA Section 123(d) to authorize appropriations for the Columbia River Basin program (added by Section 5010 of the Water Infrastructure Improvements for the Nation Act (P.L. 114-322).
		Authorization of Appropriations : \$30.0 million for each of FY2020 and FY2021.

Table C-I. EPA-Related Provisions of AWIA (P.L. 115-270)

Section 4106	33 U.S.C. §1301	Sewer Overflow and Stormwater Control Grants: Amends CWA Section 221 to authorize EPA to make grants to states for planning, design, and construction of stormwater capture and treatment works. This section also authorizes state governors to waive certain CWSRF project requirements if the requirements are found by the governor to be inconsistent with the purposes of these grants.
		Authorization of Appropriations : \$225.0 million for each of FY2019 and FY2020.
Section 4107	33 U.S.C. §I 383	Decentralized Wastewater Systems: Amends CWA Section 603 (State Water Pollution Control Revolving Funds) to authorize qualified nonprofits to provide assistance to certain individuals for the repair or replacement of existing decentralized wastewater treatment systems or for the connection of an individual household to a centralized publicly owned treatment works.
Section 4305	Newly authorized	Community Liaisons : Requires EPA to assign an individual from each region to serve as a liaison to minority, tribal, and low-income communities. This individual must be publicly identified on the website of the EPA's regional office and the Office of Environmental Justice.

Source: Compiled by CRS from provisions in Title IV of AWIA (P.L. 115-270). **Note:** The provisions in this table are not further discussed in this report.

Author Contact Information

Elena H. Humphreys Analyst in Environmental Policy [redacted]@crs.loc.gov , 7-....

EveryCRSReport.com

The Congressional Research Service (CRS) is a federal legislative branch agency, housed inside the Library of Congress, charged with providing the United States Congress non-partisan advice on issues that may come before Congress.

EveryCRSReport.com republishes CRS reports that are available to all Congressional staff. The reports are not classified, and Members of Congress routinely make individual reports available to the public.

Prior to our republication, we redacted phone numbers and email addresses of analysts who produced the reports. We also added this page to the report. We have not intentionally made any other changes to any report published on EveryCRSReport.com.

CRS reports, as a work of the United States government, are not subject to copyright protection in the United States. Any CRS report may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without permission from CRS. However, as a CRS report may include copyrighted images or material from a third party, you may need to obtain permission of the copyright holder if you wish to copy or otherwise use copyrighted material.

Information in a CRS report should not be relied upon for purposes other than public understanding of information that has been provided by CRS to members of Congress in connection with CRS' institutional role.

EveryCRSReport.com is not a government website and is not affiliated with CRS. We do not claim copyright on any CRS report we have republished.